
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Town Council  

FROM: David E. Cox, Town Manager  

DATE: April 4, 2024 

SUBJECT: Agenda Information – 4/9/2024 

The following is additional or summary information regarding matters on the upcoming Town Council 
Agenda.  The numbering below follows the agenda, and some routine or self-explanatory items are not 
discussed in this memo.  As you review your packet materials, please do not hesitate to contact the 
appropriate staff member or me prior to the Council meeting with any questions or concerns.  

5 Presentations 
5a Clean Energy Regarding East Hampton membership in Sustainable CT – The Town Council will 
receive a presentation from the members of the Clean Energy Task Force about the Sustainable CT 
program and the Town’s potential membership in the program.  Sustainable CT is a voluntary program 
that aims to encourage, support and recognize the efforts of municipalities to enact sustainable, 
equitable and inclusive measures within their communities.  The Sustainable CT website 
(https://sustainablect.org/) lists the following as its mission. 

“To foster inclusive, resilient, and vibrant Connecticut municipalities that provide 
opportunities for all to thrive by: providing a menu of sustainability actions that build 
local economies, support equity, and respect the finite capacity of the environment; 
offering technical assistance to help advance sustainability initiatives; and recognizing 
and certifying municipalities for their achievements.” 

6 Bids and Contracts 
6a Review of Mowing Services Bid – The Council is asked to consider the bids received for mowing 
services.  Staff is recommending that all bids be rejected and that no award be made pursuant to the 
RFP.  The bidding form called for three different base bids on which bidders could propose pricing.  
Individual bidders could bid on one or more of the sections, which included municipal properties, 
cemeteries, and educational facilities and fields.  As noted to the Board of Finance, the cost of mowing 
at educational facilities and athletic facilities would not save the Town money overall.  There may be 
savings associated with the mowing of Town facilities and Cemeteries as well as potential improvements 
in the service level with a private contractor.  However, due to concerns with the apparent low bidder 
and their lack of response to inquiries since bidding and over the company’s actual ability to provide the 
services, staff is recommending that all responses be rejected.  Based on the known cost of the work to 
be performed, which is below the bidding thresholds of the Town Code, staff will solicit new quotations 
from the low bidders and anticipates entering into an agreement with one of the firms.  Performing this 
service with an outside contractor will allow the Town to eliminate a part time position and save costs.  
The Board of Finance recommended budget includes the reduction in costs. 

Recommendation:  Reject all bids received for mowing services. 

https://sustainablect.org/


Town Council - Agenda Information – 4/9/2024 
April 4, 2024 
Page 2 
 

 
 

 
6b Consideration of the Police Vehicle Maintenance and Towing Bid – The Council is asked to 
review and approve a one year contract for maintenance of police vehicles and towing services.  One bid 
was received in response to the Request for Proposals from Belltown Motors.  The proposal calls for an 
increase of $5 per hour (4.6%) for service ($107 to $112) and a $1 increase in the cost of tire disposal ($4 
to $5) as well as discounted parts pricing.  As noted in Chief Woessner’s memo, Belltown Motors has 
provided excellent services to the Police Department and other departments for many years.  
Maintenance services are budgeted at $25,000 annually. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve the one year contract. 
 
7 Resolutions/Ordinances/Policies/Proclamations 
7a Proclamation regarding Lions Club Choose Kindness Week – In follow up to the presentation 
from the Lions Club at the March 26 meeting, the Council is asked to consider presentation of a 
proclamation declaring the week of April  15 as Choose Kindness Week in East Hampton. 
 
8 Continued Business 
8b Discussion regarding protection of the Lake Pocotopaug Watershed Area – In follow up to the 
discussion at the March 26 meeting, the Council will continue its discussion of steps that have been 
taken and additional steps it may want to take regarding development protections in the Lake 
Pocotopaug Watershed area, which is defined in Town regulations. 
 
 Recommendation:  Review actions and determine next steps 
 
9 New Business 
9a Consideration of potential fee updates for FY  2025 – The Council is asked to review the fee 
schedule for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2024.  Most fees are not proposed for change, but some 
items have been noted for increase due to increased costs for those services.  Additionally, the Council is 
asked to consider implementing fees related to certain fire safety related permits.  The Fire Marshal is 
suggesting implementation of fees related to commercial building activity that triggers compliance with 
the State Fire Safety Codes including construction and installation of fire alarms, sprinkler systems or 
hood systems.  No charges are suggested for other required permits and no fee is proposed for the 
various operational inspections that are performed.  Currently, these reviews are performed, permits 
are issued, and inspections are performed for these projects and no fees are charged for fire safety 
review.  Only the standard building related permit fee is charged.   The intent of the proposed fees is to 
implement a user based fee for these reviews and related inspections. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve the fees as appropriate for FY 2025. 
 



Town Council - Agenda Information – 4/9/2024 
April 4, 2024 
Page 3 
 

 
 

9b Review and discussion regarding the Board of Finance recommended FY 25 budget  - The 
Board of Finance approved various motions recommending to the Town Council the FY 25 budget.  The 
action recommended a total budget of $56,692,419, which is an overall reduction of $1,098,838 from 
the originally proposed amounts.  Reductions were made to the general government, education and 
transfers budgets.  The Board of Finance also recommended a Capital Improvements Plan in the amount 
of $2,389,355,  which is a reduction of $406,945.  The Board of Finance also approved alternative 
funding sources for purchases within the Capital Improvements Plan that facilitated reduction in the 
transfer from the General Fund via taxes.  It is expected that a summary document will be created and 
forwarded to the Council shortly.  That document will also be made available to the public.  In the 
interim, a summary of the motions made by the Board of Finance are included in this packet. 
 
 Recommendation: Review the recommendation and determine how to proceed. 
 
9c Consideration of actions related to the Police Chief’s employment contract – The Council is 
asked to authorize continued employment of Police Chief Woessner beyond the expiration of his 
contract on April 23 and to replace the contract with a standard letter of employment as well as the 
Town’s Employee Handbook and subject to State Statute section 7-278.  All employee appointments are 
made by the Town Manager and the letter of employment will be drafted by me.  In the last few years, 
the individual employment agreements held by certain employees were allowed to expire and the 
employees remained with the Town.  This made them subject to the normal employee rules and all 
other provisions of Town employment without any special conditions that may be found in their 
contracts. This is the intent with Police Chief Woessner.  However, his contract holds a specific provision 
that requires action by the Council. The provision indicates that unless action is taken by both parties to 
either extend or negotiate a successor agreement, it is understood that the Chief has voluntarily 
resigned.  If the Chief is employed without a contract, as noted, he would be subject to the standard 
rules, including the provision of statutes that indicate a Chief of Police may only be terminated for 
cause.  The Council is asked to determine whether the lack of a contract is acceptable or whether it 
wishes to extend the term of the existing contract. 
 
 Recommendation:  Approve continued employment without a contract. 
 
The remainder of the items are of a routine nature, in the sole purview of the Council or are 
announcements.  Please contact me or the appropriate staff member with questions or concerns.  
 



Town Council Regular Meeting 1 3/26/2024 Minutes 

Town of East Hampton 
Town Council Regular Meeting 

Tuesday, March 26, 2024 
Town Hall Council Chambers and Zoom 

MINUTES 

Present: Chairman Dean Markham, Vice Chairperson Karen Wanat, Council Members Deborah 
Cunningham, Tim Feegel, Richard Knotek, Jack Solomon, and Jordan Werme and Town Manager 
David Cox. 

Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance 
Chairman Markham called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. in the Town Hall Council Chambers and 
via Zoom. 

Adoption of Agenda 
A motion was made by Mr. Solomon, seconded by Ms. Cunningham, to adopt the agenda as submitted. 
Voted (7-0). 

Approval of Minutes 
Regular Meeting of March 12, 2024 
A motion was made by Mr. Solomon, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to approve the minutes of the Town 
Council Regular Meeting of March 12, 2024 as submitted. Voted (7-0). 

Public Remarks 
Bob Yenkner, 83 Spellman Point Road, Lori Wilcox, 4 Hawthorne Road, Susan McFarland, 52 Meeks 
Point Road, Kevin Reed, Justin Kelly, 31 Lakewood Road, Daniel Silva, Cornwell Terrace, Dennis 
Jenks, 33 Meeks Point Road, Linda Schroth, 47 Spellman Point Road, Marty Podskoch, 43 O’Neill 
Lane, Sabrina Martucci, 31 Lakewood Road, and Wes Jenks, 45 Meeks Point Road, provided 
comments on water runoff into the lake from the development behind the Town Hall and the logging 
being done on the property at the top of Lakewood Road.  Comments were made about the same issues 
happening 30 years ago when Lake Vista was in the process of being built.  Also, the environmental 
impact of the Lakewood Road property was discussed including possible endangered species. 

Derek Johnson, 36 Lakewood Road, commented on the staff and resources in the Planning & Zoning 
Department and Inland Wetlands including the vacant Town Planner position. 

Barbara Moore, 7 Overlook Road, reported that she is on the CT Office of Tourism Board noting if 
anyone has any tourism ideas for the town or questions they can contact her. 

Presentations 
Presentation from East Hampton Lions Club on Choose Kindness Program  
Lions Club member Mary Krogh provided an overview of a new Lions Club initiative called Choose 
Kindness. The program began with a plan to work with the school system, but it has expanded to a 
townwide program including town agencies and businesses during the week of April 15–19. A 
proclamation will be prepared for the next meeting for Choose Kindness.   

Agenda Item 3a



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  2 3/26/2024 Minutes  

Bids & Contacts 
Consideration of Actions Related to Wopowog Road Culvert Replacement 
• Review and Possible Approval of Contract 
• Consideration of a Motion to Allocate ARPA Interest Funds to the Project 

Director of Public Works Matt Walsh provided an overview of the memos provided regarding the 
replacement of the Wopowog Road Culvert over Safstrom Brook. The memos will be included with 
the minutes filed in the Town Clerk’s Office.   
 
A motion was made by Ms. Wanat, seconded by Mr. Solomon, to award the bid for the culvert 
replacement on Wopowog Road to Southern Industries Corporation of Tarrytown, NY in the amount 
of $400,850.  Voted (7-0) 
 
A motion was made by Ms. Wanat, seconded by Mr. Werme, to allocate up to $100,000 in ARPA 
interest funding to the Wopowog Road Culvert Replacement project.  Voted (7-0) 
 
Resolutions/ Ordinances/ Policies/ Proclamations 
None 
  
Continued Business 
Sub-Committee Reports & Updates  
Mr. Solomon reported that the Housing Authority grant work is nearing completion at the Housing 
Authority properties. 
 
Mr. Feegel reported that the Water Committee will meet on Thursday, March 28th at 5:30pm. 
 
Ms. Cunningham reminded everyone that the Library survey is still underway. 
 
Mr. Knotek asked residents to consider applying for town boards and committees. 
 
Mr. Markham would like a letter sent to the residents who spoke tonight to apply for boards and 
commissions. 
 
Mr. Werme thanked those that attended the Listening Sessions. 
 
Ms. Wanat reported that the field use committee that is looking at future fields for the Hawks football 
met and have found some potential future fields. 
 
New Business 
Update, Discussion & Potential Action Regarding Town Owned Environmental & Conservation 
Easements 
Ray Zatorski, Vice Chairman of the Planning & Zoning Commission and Rowland Rux, Planning & 
Zoning Commission member provided information on the conservation easement on High Point Drive. 
The Planning & Zoning Commission always gives as much latitude to property owners as is within 
statutes and regulations to present their side of the issue. In this case the property owner indicates that 
proof exists that there was a previous building on the property and if so a building would be able to be 
grandfathered in.  The Commission has yet to see proof of a stairway to the river.  The property owner 
has asked for continuances.  Mr. Zatorski will be making a motion based on what is presented at the 



 
Town Council Regular Meeting  3 3/26/2024 Minutes  

next meeting in April.  He also indicated that they are always looking for conservation easements in 
developments in order to protect the environment.  
 
Update, Discussion & Potential Action Regarding Erosion Control Measures 
Mr. Solomon reported that there is visibly brown water flowing into the lake coming from the pond 
below Town Hall and from the development behind Town Hall.  Mr. Motto and John Tucci of Everblue 
Lakes agreed on some actions to help with the contamination, most of which has been done. An 
installation of Aquaflex near the Poets section will be done in early April.  He feels the Town Council 
should work on the Town’s permitting process.  He and other Council members feel there should be a 
joint meeting with Town Council, Inland Wetlands, Planning & Zoning Commission, the 
Conservation-Lake Commission and town staff regarding permitting and approvals. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Solomon, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to plan a workshop with the above 
groups to discuss permitting and enforcement procedures and recommend improvements to those 
processes.  Voted (7-0) 
 
Town Manager’s Report 
Mr. Cox provided his written report for the Council members which will be included with the minutes 
filed in the Town Clerk’s Office. He highlighted that early voting is in process. 
 
Appointments 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to reappoint Bonnie Berkovich to the 
Commission on Aging with a term through December 31, 2026 and Daniel Roy to the Parks & 
Recreation Advisory Board with a term through December 31, 2026.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to move Chris Dart from a full member 
to an alternate member of the Middle Haddam Historic District Commission with a term through 
December 31, 2028 and move Casey Donnelly from an alternate member to a full member of the 
Middle Haddam Historic District Commission with a term through December 31, 2025.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to appoint Mary Milewski to the 
Economic Development Commission with a term through December 31, 2024.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to appoint Robert Hart as an alternate 
member of the Conservation-Lake Commission with a term through June 30, 2026.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to appoint Dale Herrick to the Parks & 
Recreation Advisory Board with a term through December 31, 2026.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to appoint Robert Spooner to the 
Brownfields Redevelopment Agency with a term through June 30, 2028.  Voted (7-0). 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Wanat, to appoint Anne Loranger to the Library 
Advisory Board with a term through December 31, 2025.  Voted (7-0). 
 
 
 



Town Council Regular Meeting 4 3/26/2024 Minutes 

Tax Refunds 
A motion was made by Mr. Feegel, seconded by Mr. Solomon, to approve tax refunds in the amount 
of $2,966.54. Voted (7-0). 

Public Remarks 
Chuck Yenkner, 65 Spellman Point Road, commented that if the developers are not obeying the law 
they need to be stopped.  The Council can’t affect the regulations, but they should give management 
direction to the regulatory boards. 

Chris Osterman, 15 Lakewood Road, feels there is a lack of oversight on development. Things need 
to happen now to avoid more drainage into the lake. 

Derek Johnson, 36 Lakewood Road, noted the need for a full-time Town Planner and a 
moratorium/temporary freeze should be placed on development to protect the town. 

Karen Johansmeyer, 16 Penny Corner Road, Portland, supports the comments of Barbara Moore with 
respect to tourism and inquired about a fife and drum muster in town and also commented on the lake. 

Communications, Correspondence & Announcements 
Letter to Residents Regarding Wopowog Road Culvert Replacement 
Letter from Siting Council Regarding Cell Tower at 94 East High Street 

Council members received the two letters indicated above and also a thank you letter was received 
from Jo Ann Ewing for her retirement party. 

Executive Session 
Land Acquisition 
A motion was made by Ms. Wanat, seconded by Mr. Knotek, to enter Executive Session at 8:19pm to 
discuss land acquisition with Town Attorney Richard Carella and Town Manager David Cox invited 
into the session.  Voted (7-0). 

No action will be taken after Executive Session other than Adjournment. 

Executive Session ended at 9:18pm. 

Adjournment 
A motion was made by Mr. Knotek, seconded by Ms. Cunningham, to adjourn the meeting at 9:18pm. 
Voted (7-0). 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Cathy Sirois 
Recording Clerk 



East Hampton 
Resolution Supporting Participation 

In the Sustainable CT Municipal Certification Program 

WHEREAS, Sustainable CT fosters inclusive, resilient, and vibrant Connecticut 
municipalities that provide opportunities for all to thrive by providing a menu of 
sustainability actions that build local economies, support equity, and respect the 
finite capacity of the environment; offering technical assistance to help advance 
sustainability initiatives; and recognizing and certifying municipalities for their 

achievements. 

WHEREAS, Sustainable CT is designed to boost local economies, help municipal 
operations become more efficient, reduce operating costs, and provide grants and 

additional support to municipalities. 

WHEREAS, East Hampton embraces an ongoing process of working toward 
greater sustainability, selecting which actions it chooses to pursue from the 

voluntary menu of actions provided by Sustainable CT. 

RESOLVED, that the East Hampton Town Council hereby authorizes a member of 
the East Hampton Clean Energy Task Force to serve as East Hampton’s 

Sustainable CT contact person for the Sustainable CT Municipal Certification 
process and authorize this person to complete Municipal Registration on behalf of 

East Hampton. 

RESOLVED, that to focus attention and effort within East Hampton on matters of 
sustainability, and to promote East Hampton Town Council’s local initiatives and 

actions toward Sustainable CT Municipal Certification, East Hampton Town 
Council authorizes the East Hampton Clean Energy Task Force to form a 

subcommittee to serve as the Sustainability Team until such time that it is deemed 
necessary to stand up a separate and dedicated Sustainability Task Force. 

RESOLVED, that the first meeting of the Sustainability Team will be held within 
90 days of passing this resolution and that the Sustainability Team shall meet as 

frequently as needed, but no less than quarterly. 

RESOLVED, that the Sustainability Team shall report annually to the East 
Hampton Town Council on the progress of its activities toward Sustainable CT 

certification, with reports and presentations made publicly available. 

Agenda Item 5a



East Hampton

Intro to Sustainable CT

Agenda Item 5a



Sustainable CT

1. Overview

2. Roadmap of Actions

3. Resources: Technical Assistance
and Funding

4. Certification

5. Impact and Benefits

6. Get involved



Advancing Sustainability Through…

Roadmap
• Menu of 

sustainability 
actions

Resources
• Technical 

assistance and 
funding

Certification
• Recognition and 

celebration of 
achievements



Roadmap of Actions



Roadmap of Voluntary Actions

1. Inclusive and equitable 
community impacts

2. Thriving local 
economies

3. Well-steward land and 
natural resources

4. Vibrant and creative 
cultural ecosystems

5. Dynamic and resilient 
planning

6. Clean and diverse 
transportation systems

7. Renewable and efficient 
energy infrastructure and 
operations

8. Inclusive engagement, 
communication and 
education

9. Strategic materials 
management

10. Optimal health and 
wellness opportunities

11. Healthy, efficient, and 
diverse housing

12. Effective, compassionate 
homelessness prevention

13. Innovative strategies and 
practices



Clean and Diverse Transportation

Action 6.4: Support Zero Emission Vehicle 
Deployment

▪ Sponsor or host a ZEV promotional event or education 

workshop

▪ Participate in a training related to electrification of municipal 

vehicles

▪ Replace municipal fleet vehicles to reduce emissions

▪ Assess where ZEV charging infrastructure is needed in your 

community

▪ Install electric vehicle charging stations for public use



Renewable and Efficient Energy

Action 7.7: Implement a Community Energy 
Campaign

▪ Implement a community energy campaign to promote 

adoption of energy practices or technologies

▪ Examples of community energy campaigns include 

campaigns to promote the adoptions of:

• Heat pumps (air-source or ground-source), solar 

energy, battery storage, home energy audits, 

weatherization, energy upgrades



Renewable and Efficient Energy

Action 7.9: Participate in and Promote the 
C-PACE Program

▪ Pass a municipal resolution to opt-in to C-PACE

▪ Encourage local building owners to access C-

PACE financing

▪ Earn credit for C-PACE projects approved by the 

Green Bank for commercial and industrial 

buildings undertaking clean energy 

improvements on their property



Resources



Support and Technical Assistance

Fellowship Program

Equity Coaches Workshops, Training

Technical 
Assistance 
Partners



Community Match Fund

• Fast, easy, flexible, no deadlines

• Anyone with a good idea to improve their 

community

• Crowdfunding doubled by $1-to-$1 

matching grant from Sustainable CT

• Up to $7,500 from matching grant

• Coaching and support for project leaders

• Nearly $4 million invested in almost 300 

community-led projects statewide



Certification



Certification

2024 Bronze
Certification 
Requirements

Complete 1 Equity 
Toolkit in Action Optimize 
for Equity.

Complete at least 1 
action in each of the 
categories (1-12).

Successfully complete 
actions totaling200 or 
more points.

2024 Silver
Certification 
Requirements

Complete 3 Equity 
Toolkits in Action Optimize 
for Equity.

Complete at least 1 
action in each of the 
categories (1-12).

Successfully complete 
actions totaling 500 or 
more points.

2024 Gold Certification Requirements

Complete all actions in Category 1, Inclusive and 
Equitable Communities, including 4 Equity Toolkits in 
Action 1.1, Optimize for Equity.

Complete at least 1 action in each of the Categories 
2-12.

Achieve Climate Leader Designation.

Complete Action 8.6, Collaborate with Other 
Municipalities on Sustainability Actions.

Successfully complete actions totaling 750 or more 
points.

https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/climate-leader
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions
https://sustainablect.org/actions-certifications/actions


Climate Leader Designation

• The Climate Leader Designation is an add-on to certification, 
showcasing towns that complete high impact actions that reduce 
GHG emissions and build resilience 

• Municipality can choose any combination of Climate Leader actions 
to earn 150 points

Goals:

• Create high visibility around climate action within the Sustainable 
CT framework

• Accelerate municipal implementation of high-impact actions that 
reduce harmful GHG emissions and prepare communities for the 
impacts of climate change

• Advance and align with state climate goals through collective 
municipal action



Recognition



Impact and Benefits



Impact

• 131 CT towns participating (78%)

• 58 towns certified

• More than 3,328 sustainability 
actions implemented

• Nearly $4 million invested in 
community-led projects

• Connected, inclusive, resilient 
communities



Benefits
“We are proud to see Hartford recognized once again 
with a Sustainable CT silver-level certification… and I 
want to thank Sustainable CT for their leadership in 
building a more sustainable Connecticut.” 
—Ma y or Luke Bronin, Hartford

“This fellowship gave me a 
unique professional 
experience at the intersection 
of nonprofit work and 
municipal government.” 
—A drian Huq, 2022 Sustainable CT Fellow 
w ith Naugatuck Valley Council of Governments 

“Thanks to Sustainable CT’s 
jump-start, I Heart My 
Home CT is assisting other 
agencies and municipalities 
to meet their residential 
energy efficiency targets.” 
—Ka thy Fay, Director of Community  
Su stainability, NHS New Haven

“The [Equity] Coach helped 
us sharpen our focus on 
reaching out to the East 
Hartford community, to gain 
input and suggestions of 
individuals who may be 
underserved.” 
—Tom Baptist, Director of Public Works, 
Ea st  Hartford 

• Protects the environment and reduces greenhouse gases

• Saves money

• Provides a rallying point and collective vision

• Offers access to matching funds for projects

• Recognizes/showcases your accomplishments and 
commitment to sustainability

• Promotes civic pride

• Attracts new business, smart development, a skilled 
workforce and new families



Get Involved



Become a Sustainable CT Community

1

Pass a 

resolution, 

establish a 

Sustainability 

Team.

2

Register your 

community at 

sustainablect.org.

3

Set a vision for 

how to improve 

your community 

using 

Sustainable CT’s 

roadmap.



Dorothy Piszczek

sustainablect.org

dorothyp@sustainablect.org

http://www.sustainablect.org/


Thank You, Sustainable CT Funders



A/Z Services $114,038.40 $13,017.60 $5,952.00 133,008.00$  
C&M Lawn and Landscape $124,320.00 $30,710.00 $6,660.00 161,690.00$  
Central Connecticut Services LLC $76,209.00 $14,675.50 $3,474.00 94,358.50$    
CW Resources $83,452.00 $8,843.55 $1,898.10 94,193.65$    
E.A. Quinn $140,000.00 $31,320.00 $14,850.00 $186,170.00
Gold Coast $60,200.00 $23,545.00 $7,425.00 $91,170.00
KC lawncare $89,880.00 $43,825.00 $6,345.00 $140,050.00
Mountainview Landscape $111,440.00 $31,629.00 $12,375.00 $155,444.00
NIRO Facilities Management $87,696.00 $26,460.00 $6,750.00 $120,906.00
Primary landscaping $99,820.00 $19,580.00 $3,870.00 $123,270.00
Red Line Landscapes No Bid $22,520.00 $5,178.00 $27,698.00
Wygant $77,700.00 No Bid No Bid $77,700.00

Town 
Cemeteries

Bid Results Commercial Mowing Services March 25th, 2024
Town of East Hampton CT 06424

Educational 
Facilities

Municipal 
Facilities

Bid Total

Agenda Item 6a



1 

TOWN OF EAST HAMPTON 
INVITATION TO BID 
(BID #DPW2024-001) 

FOR 

Lawn Mowing Services 
Date and Time required: March 25, 2024 @ 11:00 am 

The Town of East Hampton will receive Sealed Bids, in duplicate, for Lawn Mowing Services. 
Bids will be received only at the Office of the Town Manager, Town Hall, no later than the time 
and date indicated above (local time), at which time they will be publicly opened and read aloud. 
No late bids will be accepted. 

Bid Forms, Plans, and Specifications may be obtained at no cost from the Town’s website at 
www.easthamptonct.gov or the State’s website at www.das.state.ct.us. 

The Town reserves the right to waive informalities or reject any part of or the entire bid when said 
action is deemed to be in the best interest of the Town. 

An affirmative Action/Equal Employer. Minority/Women’s Business Enterprises are encouraged 
to apply. 

Submit Bids To: 
East Hampton Town Manager 

1 Community Drive 
East Hampton, CT 06424 

QUESTIONS: Contact Public Works Director in writing via email at 
mwalsh@easthamptonct.gov 

No questions will be accepted after March 18, 2024 
Answer to questions will be posted via addendum on the Town’s website 

 no later than March 20, 2024 

http://www.easthamptonct.gov/
http://www.das.state.ct.us/
mailto:mwalsh@easthamptonct.gov


2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS Pages 

INFORMATION FOR BIDDERS   3 

GENERAL CONDITIONS   6 

DETAILED SPECIFICATIONS 10 

BID PROPOSAL 16 

SITE LOCATION MAPS 20 



3 
 

INFORMATION TO BIDDERS  
  

1. Sealed bids (one original and one copy) on the attached Bid Forms will be received at the 
Office  
of the Town Manager, Town Hall, 1 Community Drive East Hampton, Connecticut 06424. 
At the designated time of opening, they will be publicly opened, read, recorded and placed 
on file.  

 
2. Whenever it is deemed to be in the best interest of the Town, the Town Manager, 

Purchasing Agent or designated representative shall waive informalities in any and all bids. 
The right is reserved to reject any bid, or any part of any bid, when such action is deemed 
to be in the best interest of the Town of East Hampton.  

 
3. Bidders may bid on site categories as follows for:  

• Educational Sites  
• Municipal Facilities   
• Cemeteries  

 
To be considered, bidders shall complete all line items on a unit cost basis for the sites 
within a category.  The award will be on the basis of bid total cost for each category 
type of the lowest qualified, responsible and responsive bidder.  The bid season total 
cost for each site shall be arrived at by the mathematical calculation of the unit cost per 
mowing multiplied times the number of mowing events for each site based a mowing 
season of May 1st through November 15th entered on the season cost for each site line 
item, and the total sum of all line items for mowing site category entered in the specified 
location on the bid form.  In the event that the Town finds computational errors in a 
respondent’s bid proposal, the bid total cost shall be recalculated by the Town based 
on the unit prices contained in the bid proposal. The Town reserves the right to split 
the award to more than one bidder and to evaluate and consider any additional monetary 
incentives offered by any bidder for the award of all locations to a single contractor as 
deemed in the Town’s best interest (See Bid Proposal page).  

 
4. Bids will be carefully evaluated as to conformance with stated specifications.  

 
5. The envelope enclosing your bid should be clearly marked by bid number and title, due 

date and time of opening, Bidder’s company name and address.  
 

6. Specifications must be submitted complete in every detail, and when requested, samples 
shall be provided. If a bid involves any exception from stated specifications, they must be 
clearly noted as exceptions, underlined, and attached to the bid.  

 
7. The Bid Documents contain the provisions required for the requested item. Information 

obtained from an officer, agent, or employee of the Town or any other person shall not 
affect the risks or obligations assumed by the Bidder or relieve him/her from fulfilling any 
of the conditions of the Bid.  

 



4 
 

8. Each bidder is held responsible for the examination and/or to have acquainted themselves 
with any conditions at the job site which would affect their work before submitting a bid. 
Failure to meet these criteria shall not relieve the Bidder of the responsibility of completing 
the Bid without extra cost to the Town of East Hampton.  
 

9. Any bid may be withdrawn prior to the above scheduled time for the opening of bids or 
authorized postponement thereof. Any bid received after the time and date specified shall 
not be considered. No bidder may withdraw a bid within sixty (60) days after the actual 
date of the opening thereof. Should there be reasons why a Bid cannot be awarded within 
the specified period, the time may be extended by mutual agreement between the Town 
and the bidder.  

 
10. THIS ITEM WAIVED: Each bid must be accompanied by a bid bond payable to the 

Town for ten percent (10%) of the total amount of the bid. The bid bond of the successful 
bidder will be retained until the payment bond and performance bond have been executed 
and approved, after which it will be returned. A certified check may be used in lieu of a 
bid bond. The Town of East Hampton will not be liable for the accrual of any interest on 
any certified check submitted. Cashier's checks will not be accepted.  

 
11. THIS ITEM WAIVED: A 100% Performance Bond and 100% Payment bond are 

required of the successful bidder.  These bonds shall cover all aspects of the specification 
and shall be delivered to the Purchasing Agent prior to the issuance of a purchase 
order.  The Performance and Payment Bonds will be returned upon the delivery and 
acceptance of the bid items.  

 
12. The bidder agrees and warrants that in the submission of this sealed bid, they will not 

discriminate or permit discrimination against any person or group of persons on the 
grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, or physical disability including, but 
not limited to blindness, unless it is shown by such bidder that such disability prevents 
performance of that which must be done to successfully fulfill the terms of this sealed bid 
or in any manner which is prohibited by the laws of the United States or the State of 
Connecticut: and further agrees to provide the Human Relations Commission with such 
information requested by the Commission concerning the employment practices and 
procedures of the bidder.  An Affirmative Action Statement will be required by the 
successful bidder.  

 
13. Bidder agrees to comply with all of the latest Federal and State Safety Standards and 

Regulations and certifies that all work required in this bid will conform to and comply with 
said standards and regulations. Bidder further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Town for all damages assessed against the Town as a result of Bidder's failure to comply 
with said standards and/or regulations.  

 
14. All correspondence regarding any purchase made by the Town of East Hampton shall 

reference the Town's purchase order number. Each shipping container shall clearly indicate 
both Town purchase order number and item number.  

 



5 
 

15. Any bidder, in order to be considered, shall be engaged primarily in the business of lawn 
mowing services with a minimum of five (5) years’ experience as related to the 
specifications.  

 
16. Non-Resident Contractors: (if applicable) Upon award the Town is required to report 

names of nonresident (out of state) Contractors to the State of Connecticut, Department of 
Revenue Services (DRS) to ensure that Employment Taxes and other applicable taxes are 
being paid by Contractors.  A single surety bond for 5% of the entire contract price is 
required to be filed with DRS by any unverified nonresident prime or general 
contractor (if awarded) where the contract price for the project is $250,000 or more.   
The contractor will be required to promptly furnish to the Town a copy of the Form AU-
968 - Certificate of Compliance issued by the State of Connecticut, DRS.  See State of 
Connecticut Notice SN 2012 (2).  
 

17. Bidder shall include on a sheet(s) attached to its proposal a complete disclosure of all past 
and pending mediation, arbitration and litigation cases that the bidder or its principals 
(regardless of their place of employment) have been involved in for the most recent five 
years. Please include a statement of the issues in dispute and their resolution. Acceptability 
of Bidder based upon this disclosure shall lie solely with the Town.  

 
18. Bidder or its principals, regardless of their place of employment, shall not have been 

convicted of, nor entered any plea of guilty, or nolo contendere, or otherwise have been 
found civilly liable or criminally responsible for any criminal offense or civil action. Bidder 
shall not be in violation of any State or local ethics standards or other offenses arising out 
of the submission of bids or proposals, or performance of work on public works projects 
or contracts.  

 
19. Municipal construction projects are exempt from Federal Excise Taxes, as well as, State of 

Connecticut Sales, Use and Service Taxes and should not be include in the Bidder’s 
proposal.  

 
20. It is the responsibility of the bidder to check the Town’s website before submitting 

bid for any addendums posted prior to bid opening.  
 

21. Any questions regarding this bid shall be emailed to Matthew Walsh, Director of Public 
Works, at mwalsh@easthamptonct.gov   The request must be received at least five (5) 
business days prior to the advertised response deadline.  All questions, answers, and/or 
addenda, as applicable, will be posted on the Town’s website at www.easthamptonct.gov. 
(Upon entering the website click on Bids & Proposals).  It is the respondent’s 
responsibility to check the website for addenda prior to submission of any 
bid/proposal.  

  
  
IMPORTANT:  Failure to comply with general rules may result in disqualification of the 
bidder.  

  

http://www.easthamptonct.gov/


6 
 

GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 

1. Workmanship, Materials and Employees  
 

A. Wherever in this contract the word “Engineer” is used, it shall be understood as 
referring to the Director of Public Works of the Town of East Hampton acting 
personally or through any assistants duly authorized.  

 
B. The entire work described herein shall be completed in accordance with the plans and 

specifications to the full intent and meaning of the same.    
 

C. The Contractor shall at all times enforce strict discipline and good order among his 
employees, and shall seek to avoid employing on the work any unfit person or anyone 
not skilled in the work assigned to him.  

 
2. Superintendent: The Contractor shall keep on the work during its progress, in the absence 

of the Contractor, a competent Superintendent. The Superintendent shall be acceptable to 
the Engineer and shall fully represent the Contractor. All directions given to the 
Superintendent shall be binding as if given to the Contractor.  

 
3. Preconstruction Meeting: A Preconstruction Meeting will be held with the Engineer, 

Contractor, and prior to commencing any work. It will be the obligation of the Contractor 
to arrange such a meeting.  

 
4. Insurance: The Bidder shall, at its own expense and cost, obtain and keep in force during 

the entire duration of the Project or Work the following insurance coverage covering the 
Bidder and all of its agents, employees and sub-contractors and other providers of services 
and shall name the Town of East Hampton and its employees and agents as an 
Additional Insured on a primary and non-contributory basis to the Bidders Commercial 
General Liability and Automobile Liability policies.  These requirements shall be clearly 
stated in the remarks section on the Bidders Certificate of Insurance.   Insurance shall 
be written with insurance carriers approved in the State of Connecticut and with a minimum 
Best’s Rating of A-VIII.  In addition, all carriers are subject to approval by the Town. 
Minimum Limits and requirements are stated below:  

 
A. Worker’s Compensation Insurance:  

• Statutory Coverage  
• Employer’s Liability  
• $1,000,000 each accident/$1,000,000 disease-policy limit/$1,000,000 disease each 

employee  
• A Waiver of Subrogation shall be provided in favor of the Town of East Hampton 

and its employees and agents.  
 

B.  Commercial General Liability:  
• Including Premises and Operations, Products and Completed Operations, Personal 

and Advertising Injury, Contractual Liability and Independent Contractors 
• Limits of Liability for Bodily Injury and Property Damage  



7 
 

o Each Occurrence:  $1,000,000  
o Aggregate:  $2,000,000   
o (The Aggregate Limit shall apply separately to each job.)  

 
• A Waiver of Subrogation shall be provided in favor of the Town of East   Hampton 

and its employees and agents. 
 

C.  Automobile Insurance:  
• Including all owned, hired, borrowed, and non-owned vehicle  
• Limit of Liability for Bodily Injury and Property Damage Per Accident: 

$1,000,000  
• A Waiver of Subrogation shall be provided in favor of the Town of East Hampton 

and its employees and agents.  
 

The Contractor shall direct its Insurer to provide a Certificate of Insurance to the Town before 
any work is performed. The Contractor shall be responsible to notify the Town 30 days in advance 
with written notice of cancellation or non-renewal. The Certificate shall evidence all required 
coverage including the Additional Insured on the General Liability and Auto Liability policies 
and Waiver of Subrogation on the General Liability policy. The Contractor shall provide the 
Town copies of any such insurance policies upon request.  

  
INDEMNIFICATION  

  
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless the Town 
and its consultants, agents, and employees from and against all claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, direct, indirect or consequential (including but not limited to fees and charges of 
engineers, attorneys and other professionals and court and arbitration costs) to the extent arising 
out of or resulting from the performance of the Contractor’s work, provided that such claim, 
damage, loss or expense is caused in whole or in part by any negligent act or omission by the 
Contractor, or breach of its obligations herein or by any person or organization directly or 
indirectly employed or engaged by the Contractor to perform or furnish either of the services, or 
anyone for whose acts the Contractor may be liable.  
  
5. Permits: All permits, licenses, and fees required for the performance of the contract work, 

except for those described in the detailed Construction specifications, shall be secured and paid      
for by the Contractor.  

 
6. Property Access:  
 

 A. The Contractor shall take all property precautions to protect from injury or unnecessary  
           interference, and provide proper means of access to abutting property where the existing   
           access is cut off by the Contractor.  

 
B. The Contractor shall take all proper precautions to protect persons from injury or 

unnecessary inconvenience and leave an unobstructed way along the public and private  
           places for travelers, vehicles, and access to hydrants.  
 



8 
 

C. The Contractor shall make arrangements with the adjacent property owners for such 
trespass as he may reasonably anticipate in the performance of the work. All such 
arrangements shall be reported in writing to the Engineer. 

 
7.  Protection of the Public and of Work and Property:  
 

A. The Contractor shall continuously maintain adequate protection of all work from 
damage, and shall take all reasonable precautions to protect the Town from injury or 
loss from arising connection with the Contract.  

 
B. The Contractor shall adequately protect adjacent private and public property. 

 
C. The Contractor shall make good any damage, injury, or loss of his work and to the 

property of the Town resulting from lack of reasonable protective precautions. 
 
8. Existing Improvements: The Contractor shall conduct his work so as to minimize damage       

to existing improvements. Except where specifically stated otherwise in the specifications, 
drawings, or as directed by the Engineer, it will be the responsibility of the Contractor to restore 
to their original condition, as nearly as practical, all improvements on public property. 

 
9.   Separate Contracts: The Engineer reserves the right to let other contracts in connection with 

this work. The Contractor shall afford other Contractors reasonable opportunity for the 
introduction and storage of their materials and the execution of their work and shall properly 
connect and coordinate his work with theirs. Wherever work being done by the Town of East 
Hampton forces or by other Contractors is contiguous to work covered by this Contract, the 
respective rights of the various interests involved shall be established by the Engineer to secure 
the completion of the various portions of the work.  

 
10. Inspection of Work:  
 

A. The Town shall provide sufficient personnel for the inspection of the work.  
 

B. The Engineer shall at all times have access to the work whenever it is in preparation or 
progress, and the Contractor shall provide proper facilities for such access and for 
inspection.  

 
C. If the specifications or the Engineer’s instructions require any work to be specially 

tested or approved, the Contractor shall give the Engineer timely notice of its readiness 
for inspection and, if the inspection is by another authority other than the Engineer, of 
the date fixed for such inspection. Inspections by the Engineer shall be made promptly. 
If any work should be covered up without approval or consent of the Engineer, it must, 
if required by the Engineer, be uncovered for examination and properly restored at the 
Contractor’s expense.  

 
D.  Re-inspection of any work may be ordered by the Engineer. If such work is found to 

be in accordance with the Contract Documents, the Town shall pay the cost of re-
inspection and replacement. If such work is not in accordance with the Contract 
Documents, the Contractor shall pay such cost.  



9 
 

 
11. Right to Increase or Decrease Work: The Town shall have the right to increase or        

decrease the amount of work herein specified as may be required.  
 
12.  Right of Engineer to Stop Work for Weather Conditions: Should the work, in the opinion 

of the Engineer, be in danger by reason of inclemency of weather, or could not be finished in 
time to prevent such danger, the Contractor shall cease operations upon order of the    
Engineer, and shall not resume them until ordered to do so by the Engineer when the weather 
conditions are favorable. The Contractor shall, upon such orders, discontinue work, remove 
all materials or appliances for or in use upon the work, and place the property in proper 
condition during the time the work is suspended as herein provided, without cost to the Town. 

 
13.  Contractor to be Responsible for Imperfect Work or Materials: Any unfaithful work or 

imperfect material shall be corrected upon the order of the Engineer. The acceptance and 
payment of the work does not in any manner relieve the Contractor of his obligation to 
perform the work in the proper manner herein specified.  

 
14.  Town may Notify Contractor if Work is not Carried on Satisfactorily:  
 

A. If, in the opinion of the Engineer, the Contractor is not proceeding with the work at a 
sufficient rate of progress so as to finish in the time specified, or has abandoned said 
work, or is not complying with the terms and stipulations of the Contract and 
specifications, the Engineer may serve notice on the Contractor to adopt such methods 
as will insure the completion of the work in the time specified.  

 
 B. If, within five (5) days after the Engineer has notified the Contractor that his work is not 

being carried on satisfactorily as before mentioned, the Engineer shall have the right to 
annul the Contract and manage the work under the direction of the Engineer, or re-let, 
for the very best interest of the Town as a new contract, the work under said new contract 
shall be considered the responsibility of the defaulting Contractor.  

 
15.  Deductions for Uncorrected Work:  
 

A. If the Engineer deems it inexpedient to correct work that has been damaged or that was not 
done in accordance with the Contract, an equitable deduction from the Contract price shall 
be made therefore.  

 
B. The Contractor shall promptly replace and re-execute his own work in accordance with the 

Contract and without expense to the Town.  
 

 

 

 

  



10 
 

DETAILED SPECIFICATIONS  
  
  

1. It is the intent of the Town of East Hampton to purchase lawn mowing services for Town 
owned properties. The properties are bundled into three groups, all under the direction of 
the Department of Public Works.  Site locations are detailed herein with aerial photos and 
written specifications.   

 
2.  The mowing season is defined as the period between May 1st and November 15th.  

 
3. Mowing intervals will be established to comply with the detailed specifications unless 

otherwise stated. See Detailed Specification for each location for a description of properties 
and frequency of mowing. A sample schedule subject to variations in weather and changes 
approved by the Public Works Director is included below.    

 
a. Mowing Schedule for Educational Facilities category  

04/29/24 – Director of Public works will direct start date.   
Begin mowing as scheduled in specifications for each educational site.  
11/4/24 – Director of Public works will direct final mowing date prior to 
11/15/2024.  

 
b. Mowing Schedule for Municipal Facilities category  

04/29/24 – Director of Public works will direct start date.   
Begin mowing as scheduled in specifications for each municipal facility site.  
11/4/24 – Director of Public works will direct final mowing date prior to    
11/15/2024.  

 
c. Mowing Schedule for Cemeteries category  

04/29/24 – Director of Public works will direct start date.   
Begin mowing as scheduled in specifications for each cemetery site.  
5/20/24 to 5/24/24 All Cemeteries must be mowed this week in preparation for 
Memorial Day  
6/24/24/ to 6/28/24 All Cemeteries must be mowed this week in preparation for 
July 4th Holiday  
8/26/24 to 8/30/24 All Cemeteries must be mowed this week in preparation for 
Labor Day Holiday  
11/4/24 to 11/8/24 All Cemeteries must be mowed this week in preparation for 
Veteran's Day Holiday (This will be the last mowing for the season)  
11/4/24 – Director of Public works will direct final mowing date prior to   
11/15/2024.  

 
 

*For purposes of this bid there are a total of 28 weeks in the mowing season. 
This is the number of weeks that shall be used to calculate the total number 
of mowing events for each site in the categories based on that particular 
site’s required mowing schedule as described in these specifications. The 
actual number of mowing events may be more or less than the bid number 



11 
 

based on numerous factors such as weather and extra mowing for Holidays. 
The contractor shall be paid per actual mowing event for each site in each 
category.   

 
4. The Contractor shall provide all materials, labor, equipment, fuel and tools needed to 

complete the work described herein.  
 

5.  Grass height shall be maintained as follows.  
a. Commercial mowing 3”  
b. Athletic field mowing   

i. Soccer field 2”-2-½"  
ii. Baseball/Softball 2-½"-3”  

c. Each mowing shall be timed so that no more than one third of the plant height is 
cut at any one time.  

 
6. The Town reserves the right to adjust the mowing interval and height in response to 

changing environmental conditions.  The Town reserves the right to set priorities on 
higher profile areas as it deems necessary.  

 
7.  With each mowing, all edges shall be left neat and trim.   

 
8.  Removal of litter and debris is required prior to each mowing.  Bagging of debris during 

mowing is acceptable, however, under no circumstances will mowing debris be left on 
the property.  

 
9.  Lawn clippings are to be evenly dispersed so as to leave a neat appearance that is free of 

clumping. If clippings are so abundant that they cannot be evenly dispersed, they shall be 
removed from the turf. The Contractor shall dispose of clippings at his own expense.  

 
10.  All clippings shall be cleared off all sidewalks, driveways, streets, and other adjacent    

 hard surfaces.  
 

11. The Town reserves the right to schedule mowing for special events, such as Memorial 
Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Veteran's Day etc.  

 
12. All hydrants, fence poles, fence lines, cable boxes building faces, and other fixed objects 

located within the mowing area shall be string trimmed. All parking lot curb lines are 
required to be string trimmed during each mowing event. This also includes curb lines 
that are not directly adjacent to grassed surfaces.  

 
13. Care shall be taken to avoid marring of trees, shrubbery and other vegetation by equipment 

especially mowers and string trimmers. The contractor shall be responsible for damage to 
trees, shrubs, and other vegetation caused by its personnel and equipment. The contractor 
is responsible for any damage done to utilities, such as cable boxes, fire hydrants, light 
poles, etc. Damages will be deducted from the amounts due to the vendor. Damage to 
trees will be assessed by the Tree Warden and changes shall be made in accordance with 
State laws regarding municipal trees.  



12 
 

 
14. All mowing and associated operations shall be in accordance with all applicable laws and 

regulations: local, state, and federal.  
 

15. All guidelines affecting equipment and operational safety shall be adhered to. These 
include but are not limited to OSHA, DMV, DEEP, EPA, DOT, manufacturer’s 
instructions and requirements and industry BMP’s (Best Management 
Practices).  Attention shall be given to laws, regulations ordinances and safety concerns 
in all aspects of the landscape and mowing industry and include, but not limited to: 
guarding and shielding of equipment, safety labels, PPE, Stability and overturn protection, 
mower deck safety requirements, operator zones and controls.  

 
16. The contractor shall follow OSHA, MUTCD, and ANSI standards for Worksite Traffic 

Control in regard to vehicles and PPE at the very least provide no less than three (3) orange 
cones going from the curb line to the traffic side of the trailer.  The contractor’s tow 
vehicle and trailer shall have working hazard flashers on as appropriate when stopped in 
roadways during the course of their work.   

 
17. The Town reserves the right to either add or delete areas from the contract. Deletions will 

be in accordance with the unit costs included in the bid proposal. Additions will be at a 
negotiated price mutually agreeable to the Town and Contractor.  

 
 

18. The term of this contract shall be from: April 15, 2024 – December 15, 2024. By mutual 
consent of the Town and the Contractor, the contract may be extended for additional one 
(1) year periods (April 15 to December 15) at the same price as terms and conditions 
provided the maximum contract length does not exceed five years.  

 
19. The basis for payment shall be the unit cost per actual mowing event for each area mowed. 

Detailed invoices showing locations and dates of service are to be submitted monthly for 
the actual work completed during the preceding monthly period. Payment terms are net 
30 days.   

 
20. Chemical applications, such as herbicides are not permitted.  

 
21. Town Properties to be mowed are categorized as follows:  

 
Refer to individual location maps for areas to be mowed and type of mowing. Maps are given only 
for informational purposes and are not necessarily indicative of all areas to be mowed at a specific 
site. All grassed surfaces at each specific site are intended to be included in this mowing contract. 
The Town reserves the right to either increase or decrease the mowing frequency based on 
conditions. It should be expected that there will be a drought period each summer, typically late 
July-August, where the Town will direct the Contractor to discontinue mowing operations until 
plant growth returns to a rate that justifies resumption of mowing operations. The contractor will 
also be required to coordinate with the principal of each school facility or his designee to 
ensure that mowing operations do not conflict with the educational operations of the school. 
These operations include but are not limited to gym class, afterschool athletics or other events 



13 
 

where staff and students will be outdoors. Upon award of this contract prior to the start of 
mowing operations, the contractor shall create a mowing schedule showing proposed hours 
of mowing for each school and submit it for approval by the School's Principal and the 
Director of Public Works.   

 
A. Educational Facilities  

 
• High School Commercial Mowing (15 North Maple Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
• High School Athletic Field Mowing (15 North Maple Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in blue. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed twice weekly at the beginning and end of each week at a regular scheduled interval 
and shall be maintained in accordance with the Athletic mowing standard for the various 
field uses and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
• Middle School Commercial Mowing (19 Childs Road)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  
 

• Middle School Athletic Mowing (19 Childs Road)  
This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in blue. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed once weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance 
with the Athletic mowing standard for the various field uses and the specifications laid out 
in this contract  

 
• Memorial School Commercial Mowing (20 Smith Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
• Center School Commercial Mowing (7 Summit Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
B. Municipal Facilities   

 
• Community Center Commercial Mowing (105 main Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed weekly at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance with 
the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
• Fire Company #1 Commercial Mowing (3 Barton Hill)  



14 
 

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed two times per month at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in 
accordance with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this 
contract. 

 
• Fire Company #3 Commercial Mowing (99 White Birch Road)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed two times per month at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in 
accordance with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this 
contract.  

 
• Town Hall Commercial Mowing (1 Community Drive)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed once per week at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance 
with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
• Town Hall (Rear) Commercial Mowing (1 Community Drive)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in purple. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed three times per season in May, July, and October and shall be maintained in 
accordance with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this 
contract. With the exception that the length of grass shall be 4” to 6”   

 
• Sears Park Commercial Mowing (68 North Main Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed once per week at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance 
with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract. 
Additionally, the contractor shall coordinate mowing schedules with the Recreation 
Director to ensure mowing operations do not interfere with planned activities at the 
park. Sears Park is a highly visible and frequently occupied community space. The 
contractor shall ensure impact is minimized to all park patrons and staff during mowing 
operations.  

 
• Board of Ed Building (94 Main Street)  

This site includes all areas on the provided map shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 
mowed once per week at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in accordance 
with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this contract.  

 
C. Cemeteries Commercial Mowing  

Skinnerville Cemetery (RT 196)  
Old Young Street Cemetery (Old Young St)  
Tartia Cemetery (Tartia Rd)  
Hog Hill Cemetery (Hog Hill Rd)  
Selden Cemetery (Rt 151)  

 
• These sites include all areas on the provided maps shaded in green. Grassed areas shall be 

mowed every three weeks at a regular scheduled interval and shall be maintained in 



15 
 

accordance with the commercial mowing standard and the specifications laid out in this 
contract. Additionally, the specifications 1 through 4 below apply.  

 
i. Mow and string trim around all fences, monuments, vaults, and grave 

markers.  
 

ii. Flags, flowers, and other memorial markers may be moved to facilitate 
mowing operations but, shall be immediately returned to their original 
location. Flags, flowers and other memorial markers shall only be removed 
at the direction of the Town.  All removed items shall be disposed of 
properly.  

 
iii. The Contractor shall report any and all damage to head stones, grave 

markers, vaults, fences or other improvements to the Town immediately. 
Any items damaged by the Contractor shall be either repaired or replaced 
to the satisfaction of the Town.  

 
iv. The mowing frequency is every three weeks. Contractor is advised that 

mowing operations may be discontinued during the drought season, usually 
late July-August. Special conditions require that each cemetery be mowed 
3-5 days prior to Memorial Day, July 4, Labor Day and Veteran's Day. 
These requirements shall be met as part of the regular mowing frequency. 
The Contractor shall account for inclement weather when developing the 
mowing schedule.  

 

 

 

 

  



16 
 

BID PROPOSAL 
  

 DUE DATE:   March 25, 2024 
  
DATE ADVERTISED:  

  
 February 20, 2024 

   
TIME DUE:  

  
 11:00 am 

  
NAME OF PROJECT:  

   
LAWN MOWING SERVICES  

  
In compliance with this Invitation to Bid, the Bidder hereby proposes to provide goods and/or services as per this 
solicitation in strict accordance with the Bid Documents, within the time set forth therein, and at the prices submitted 
with their bid response.  

                           
It is the responsibility of the Bidder to clearly mark the outside of the bid envelope with the Bid Number, Date and 
Time of Bid Opening, and it also THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BIDDER TO CHECK THE TOWN’S 
WEBSITE BEFORE SUBMITTING BID FOR ADDENDA POSTED PRIOR TO BID OPENING.  
  
THE BIDDER ACKNOWLEDGES RECEIPT OF THE FOLLOWING ADDENDA AS REQUIRED:   
  
Addendum #1 _______(Initial/Date) Addendum #2_______(Initial/Date) Addendum #3______(Initial/Date)  
  
OTHER ITEMS REQUIRED WITH SUBMISSION OF BID PROPOSAL:   
  
The following bid checklist describes items required for inclusion with the above-referenced bid proposal package. It 
is provided for the convenience of the bidders and, therefore, should not be assumed to be a complete list.   
  
_____ 1. Clearly marked envelope with Bid Number, Date, Time of opening, Bidder’s Company Name and  
               Address.  
_____ 2. Disclosure of Past and Pending Mediation, Arbitration, and Litigation cases against the Bidder or its 

Principals as per Section 18 of the Information for Bidders.   
_____ 3. Included Statement of Bidders Qualifications.   
  
 
   ______________________________________________________________________________ 
  Type or Print Name of Individual Doing Business as (Trade Name) 
 
 
 
    ______________________________________       _______________________________      _______________________ 
   Signature of Individual                                    Title                                                    Date 
     
 
   ______________________________________________________________________________________ 
  Street Address  
  
 
   _____________________________________________________________________________________ 

City, State, Zip Code 
 
 
______________________________________________      ________________________________________ 
Telephone Number/Fax Number                                          Email Address 

  
SS # or TIN# ___________________________________________________________ 
 

(Seal – If bid is by a Corporation) Attest  
 



17 
 

Statement of Bidders Qualifications  
  
All questions must be answered and the data given must be clean and comprehensive. This 
statement must be notarized.  If necessary, questions may be answered on separate attached 
sheets. The Bidder may submit any additional information he/she desires.  
 
 

  
1. Name of Bidder:  

  
  
  
2. Permanent Main Office Address:  

  
  
  
3. When Was Your Firm Organized?  

  
  
  
4. If a Corporation, Where Incorporated?  

  
  
  
5. How many years have you have engaged in the contracting business under your present  
 firm name or trade name?  

  
  
  
6. Contract on hand:  Current and active accounts for reference.   

  
  
  
  
7. General character of work performed by your company.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
8. Have you ever failed to complete any work awarded to you?  If so where and why?  

  
  
  
  
 



18 
 

9. Have you ever defaulted on a contract?  If so, where and why?  
  
 

 

10. List the most important jobs recently completed by your company, stating the  
 approximate cost for each, and the month and year completed.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
11. List your major equipment available for this contract.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
12. List your experience in work similar to this project.  Include approximate value of  
 contract, length of time for completion, name and address of owner.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
13. List the background and experience of the principle members of your organization,  
 including officers.  

  
  
  
  
  
  
14. Credit available $   

  
  
  
  
  
15. Give Bank reference.  

  
 

 



19 

Statement of Bidders Qualifications 

The undersigned hereby authorizes and requests any person, firm or corporation to furnish any 
information requested by the Town in verification of the statements comprising this Statement 
of Bidder’s Qualifications.  

Dated this: __________________________________ 

Name of Bidder: ________________________________ 

By: ___________________________________________ 

Title: __________________________________________ 

State of: _______________________________________ 

Country of: _____________________________________ 

 ____________________________________________ being duly sworn deposes and says that 
he is of and that the answers to the forgoing questions, and all statements therein contained are 
true and correct. 

Subscribed and sworn to me this day of __________________________. 

__________________________________________________________ 
Notary Public 



Agenda Item 6b























Choose KINDNess weeK 

WHEREAS, Lions Clubs International and Lions Quest are proud founding members of the Choose Kindness 
Project, which is a coalition of non-profit organizations dedicated to bullying prevention, intentional inclusion 
and youth mental wellness; and  

WHEREAS, locally, the East Hampton Lions Club is sponsoring Choose Kindness Week, which began as a simple, 
one day program in the school system that has blossomed into a weeklong program expanded to include other 
organizations, Town departments and commissions, businesses, and others; and  

WHEREAS, during Choose Kindness Week, students, community members, businesses and organizations will 
demonstrate kindness through deliberate actions, purposeful sharing and other intentional acts of kindness. 

NOW, THEREFORE, WE THE EAST HAMPTON TOWN COUNCIL, on behalf of the citizens of East Hampton, 
do hereby proclaim April 15, 2024 through April 19, 2024 as Choose Kindness Week and encourage all citizens of 
East Hampton join in and Choose Kindness in their own way. 

EAST HAMPTON TOWN COUNCIL 

Dean Markham, Chairman Karen Wanat, Vice Chairperson

Deborah Cunningham Timothy Feegel 

Richard Knotek Jack Solomon 

Jordan Werme 
Dated this 9th day of April 2024 

Agenda Item 7a



Code 
Reference                                

(If 
applicable)

Chapter Section Subsection Description  Current Fee  Fee Effective 7/1/24 Notes
1 8 Sale of Code book  $ 125.00  $ 125.00 Entire Book from codifier.  Sections or 

pages provided pursuant to standard 
copying rates.

12 5 Cemetery Fees
Plots  $ 500.00  $ 500.00 
Opening  $ 600.00  $ 600.00 

117 5 Charge for Bid Documents  Reasonable fee associated with 
the production of hard copies at 
the discretion of the Town 
Manager 

 Reasonable fee associated with 
the production of hard copies at 
the discretion of the Town 
Manager 

161 7 Amusement Devices
Annual License  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 per device/machine
Seasonal License  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 per device/machine

192 6 Nonrefundable Excavation Permit 
Application Fee (Road Opening)

 $ 45.00  - Plus Bond/Security

192 6 Excavation Fee (in paved surface)  $ 15.00  - Plus Bond/Security
273 21 Street Excavation (all areas)  -  $ 65.00 Plus Bond/Security

Driveway Permit  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 

200 8 Land Use Application Fees
A Inland/Wetland Agency

Application Fee Residential  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 Per each lot plus Schedule A Fee and 
DEEP fee

Application Fee Commercial  $ 400.00  $ 400.00 
Authorized Agent Approval  $ 30.00  $ 30.00 
Public Hearing Fee - Single Residential 
Lot

 $ 100.00  $ 100.00 

Public Hearing Fee - Subidvision  $ 300.00  $ 300.00 
Public Heraing Fee - Commercial, 
Industrial, other

 $ 300.00  $ 300.00 

Complex Application Fee  Actual Cost  Actual Cost Pursuant to Section 19 of the EHIWWA 
regulations

 These fees currently waived pending ordinance review 

Agenda Item 9a



Regulation Amendment Petitions  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 Not inlcuding Notices or DEEP 
Regulation Advisories

Map Amendement Petitions  $ 10.00  $ 10.00 Plus Schedule B Cost
Residential Approval Modification  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
Subdivision Approval Modification  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 
Commercial, Industrical, Other Approval 
Modification

 $ 75.00  $ 75.00 

Renewal of Previous Approval  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 
Schedule A (area of regulated activity on 
wetlands, watercources and upland 
review areas)
<1000 Sq. Ft.  $ - $ -   
1000<=5000 Sq. Ft.  $ 200.00  $ 200.00 
>5000  $ 400.00  $ 400.00 
Schedule B (linear feet of wetland 
and/or watercource boundary subject to 
change)
<500  $ - $ -   
500<=1000  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 
>1000  $ 200.00  $ 200.00 

B Zoning Board of Appeals  $ 300.00  $ 300.00 
C Site Plan Approval/Special Permit

Residential  $ 150.00  $ 150.00 
Commercial, Industrial, Designed 
Development 3000 Sq Ft or less

 $ 150.00  $ 150.00 

Commercial, Industrial, Designed 
Development 3001 - 5000 Sq Ft

 $ 250.00  $ 250.00 

Commercial, Industrial, Designed 
Development 5001 - 10,000 Sq Ft

 $ 600.00  $ 600.00 

Commercial, Industrial, Designed 
Development 10001 - 15000 Sq Ft

 $ 1,100.00  $ 1,100.00 

Commercial, Industrial, Designed 
Development Each Additional 5000 Sq Ft 
or increment above 15000 Sq Ft

 $ 500.00  $ 500.00 

Site Plan Modification - Minor  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 
Site Plan Modification - Major  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 

D Special Permit Apartment Complex  $1000 plus $100  per unit  $1000 plus $100  per unit 
E Subdivision Plan 

>5 lots  $500 plus $150 per lot  $500 plus $150 per lot Plus $60 state fee
1<5 lots  $150 per lot  $150 per lot Plus $60 state fee



F Other Planning and Zoning Commission

Zoning or Subdivision Regulation Text 
Amendment

 $ 300.00  $ 300.00 

Zoning Map Change  $ 500.00  $ 500.00 
G Middle Haddam Historic District  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 

Administrative Zoning and Land Use 
fees
New Principle Structure  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 
Addition to existing primary structure  $ 75.00  $ 75.00 

New  Accessory Structure  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 
First Cut Lot Division  $ 40.00  $ 40.00 
New Shed <200 Square Feet  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
Lot Line Revision  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
Filling/Excavation/Grading <5,000 sf  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
All Other ZEO Approval  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 

219 9 Rooming House License - Annual  Not Established  Not Established 
Building Permit Fees
Demolition Permit  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
Minimum Fee  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 
First $1,000 of construction value  $ 25.00  $ 25.00 Value substantially in conformance with 

RS Means or similar data source for the 
area or verified third party construction 
contract with estimates. State 
Education Fee included.

Each additional $1,000 or portion 
thereof.

 $ 12.50  $ 12.50 Value substantially in conformance with 
RS Means or similar data source for the 
area or verified third party construction 
contract with estimates.  State 
Education Fee included.

Fire Safety Permit Fees (Commercial 
Only)
Building Plan Review
<2000 Square Feet  N/C  $ 65.00 
2000<5000 Square Feet  N/C  $ 150.00 
5000<10000 Square Feet  N/C  $ 350.00 
10000<50000 Square Feet  N/C  $ 600.00 
50000<  N/C  $ 850.00 



Site Plan Reivew  N/C  $                                           100.00 
Fire Alarm (Building Size)
<5000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                             70.00 
5000<10000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                           125.00 
10000<50000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                           225.00 
50000< Square Feet  N/C  $                                           520.00 
Sprinkler Systems (Area Protected)
<5000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                             70.00 
5000<10000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                           125.00 
10000<50000 Square Feet  N/C  $                                           225.00 
50000< Square Feet  N/C  $                                           520.00 
Hood Systems
Supression Systems  N/C  $                                           100.00 
Hood and Ductwork (Mechanicals)  N/C  $                                           100.00 
Propane Installations
Propane Filling Station  N/C  $                                           100.00 
Propane Tank Exchange Station  N/C  $                                             25.00 
Commercial Cooking or Heating  N/C  $                                             50.00 
Outdoor Fireplance or Fire Pit  N/C  $                                             50.00 
Modifications, alterations, additions to 
existing alarm or sprinkler systems

 N/C  1/2 of applicable permit fee 

All other Fire Prevention Code Permits  N/C  N/C 

Transfer Station
269 17/23 Non-Resident Refuse Disposal (Permit)  Not Established  $                                             10.00 Permit for 10 days of disposal

269 16/23 Resident Refuse Disposal (Sticker)  $                                             10.00  $                                             10.00 Annual/Required for Entry
OTHER FEES
Tires < 20 inch  $                                               5.00  $                                               5.00 per tire
Tires >=20 inch  $                                             10.00  $                                             10.00 per tire
Stuffed Chair  $                                               5.00  $                                               5.00 
Couch  $                                             30.00  $                                             30.00 
Bulky Waste Car Load  $                                               5.00  $                                               5.00 
Bulky Waste Short Bed Truck/Minivan 
Load

 $                                             20.00  $                                             20.00 

Bulky Waste Long/Standard Bed 
Truck/Van Load

 $                                             30.00  $                                             30.00 

Dump Truck  $                                             80.00  $                                             80.00 
Trailer  $                                             30.00  $                                             30.00 



269 10 Refuse Collectors and Vehicles
B Collector License - Annual  $                                             35.00  $                                             50.00 Includes one vehicle
D Vehicle/Container Registration - Annual 

per vehicle
 $                                             15.00  $                                             15.00 Each beyond first.

228 2 Junk Dealer License - Annual  Not Established  Not Established 
228 2 Junk Dealer Vehicle - Per Vehicle  Not Established  Not Established 
250 3 Peddlers License  Provided in Code section 

Application Fee  $                                             20.00  $                                             20.00 
One Month License  $                                             25.00  $                                             25.00 
Six Month License  $                                           125.00  $                                           125.00 
One Year License  $                                           200.00  $                                           200.00 

282 5 Wrecker List Placement Fee  $                                             50.00  $                                             50.00 
Police Department Private Duty
Officer Per Hour Weekdays (Four Hour 
Increments)

 $                                             88.00  $                                             91.00 Per Hour

Officer Per Hour Weekends/Holidays 
(Four Hour increments)

 $                                           108.00  $                                           111.25 Per Hour

Vehicle - Weekdays  (IRS Rate*30) per hour of Officer 
time 

 (IRS Rate*30) per hour of Officer 
time 

Per hour

Vehicle - Weekends  (IRS Rate*30) per hour of Officer 
time 

 (IRS Rate*30) per hour of Officer 
time 

Per hour

Non-Profit Rate Weekdays (Vehicle 
Included, 4 hour increments)

 $                                             78.00  $                                             80.00 Per Hour

Non-Profit Rate Weekends/Holidays 
(Vehicle Included, 4 hour increments)

 $                                           102.00  $                                           105.00 Per Hour

Non-Resident Fingerprinting  $                                             10.00  $                                             10.00 
Pistol Permit Administration Fee  $                                             70.00  $                                             70.00 Set by State

Record copies and access fees  In accordance with State Law  In accordance with State Law 
Library printing and copying Fees

Black and White  $                                               0.10  $                                               0.10 per page
Color  $                                               0.90  $                                               0.90 per page

Facsimile transmission and reciept  $                                               0.50  $                                               0.50 per page



Program/Activity Fees  Determined per program by the 
Director of the 
Department/Division presenting 
the program (e.g. Parks and 
Recreation, Library, Senior 
Center, Etc.) subject to review by 
the Town Manager 

 Determined per program by the 
Director of the 
Department/Division presenting 
the program (e.g. Parks and 
Recreation, Library, Senior 
Center, Etc.) subject to review by 
the Town Manager 

Sears Park Pavilion (Half Day)  $ 75.00  $ 75.00 4 hours 9am to 1pm or 1pm to 6pm; 
plus $125 Security Deposit

Sears Park Pavilion (Full Day)  $ 125.00  $ 125.00 9am to 6pm; plus $125 Security Deposit

Library Community Room (For Profit 
Groups)

 $ 50.00  $ 50.00 (Non-profit & East Hampton community 
meetings; no charge)

Boat Storage (Non-Town)  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 Per Boat
Non Town use of Sears Park 
Launch/Facilities - Half Day

 $ 75.00  $ 75.00 No Security Deposit

Non Town use of Sears Park 
Launch/Facilities - Full Day

 $ 150.00  $ 150.00 No Security Deposit

Sears Park Access Sticker  No Fee  No Fee Sticker Provided
Boat Launch Access Sticker  $ 50.00  $ 50.00 Annual 
Kayak/Canoe Storage - Sears Park  $ 100.00  $ 100.00 Price Per Vessel maximum of two 

vessels allowed per family
Field Use Fee Saturday (Non-Town 
affiliated teams)

 $ 35.00  $ 35.00 Price per hour, four hour minimum, plus 
material costs

Field Use Fee Sunday (Non-Town 
affiliated teams)

 $ 50.00  $ 50.00 Price per hour, four hour minimum, plus 
material costs



Motion #1 Alannah 

Motion to approve and recommend to the Town Council the Board of Education Operating budget in the amount 

of $37,725,499. 

A reduction of $359,333 as presented by the BOE. 

Motion #2 Jim 

Motion to approve and recommend to the Town Council the Town Operating Budget in the amount of 

$13,671,036. 

A reduction of $194,910. 

$173,910 Ambulance 
$2,000 Police Administration - Professional Technical Services 
$5,500 Fire Department - Physicals $5,000 / Heating Oil $500 
$2,500 Middle Haddam Library 

$11,000 Grounds Maintenance - Part-time salaries 

Motion #3 Rich 

Motion to approve a debt service budget in the amount of $3,904,329 

Motion to approve and recommend to Town Council a total Capital Plan in the amount of $2,389,355. T he 

Capital Plan contains the following changes: 

$21,945 - Flock Plate Reader - Remove project 
$85,000 - Board o{ Ed - HS proiectors reduced by $77,000 & Switch reduced by $8,000 - Remove projects 
$300,000 - Road Repair/ Maintenance at $700,000 - Reduce funding 
$72,650 - Police Department Auto - Funded from Special revenue Police Special Services 
$65,000 - Park & Rec Airline Trail - Funded from Special Revenue Recreation programming 
$544,595 - TOTAL 

Funding for the FY 2025 Capital Plan will come from the following sources: 

• General Fund - $1,349,055

• ARPA - $350,000

• Residual Project Balances - $172,650

• Middle School Roof excess funds - $304,000

• LOCIP grant - $76,000

• Police Special Services - $72,650

• Parks & Rec. Special Revenue - $65,000

Motion to approve transfers to other funds in the amount of $1,391,555 

Transfer to Capital Reserve - $1,349,055 

Transfer to Compensated Absences - $42,500 

Agenda Item 9b



Agenda Item 9c





















Agenda Item 12



BOARD AND COMMISSION SUMMARY 
MARCH 2024 

Arts & Culture Commission 
The Arts & Culture Commission met on March 21. Presentations were given for the Capstone and 
Community Grant applications that were received.  Members discussed the All-District Art Show and 
the 2024 Garden Tour. 

Board of Finance 
In following with the FY 2025 Budget Schedule, the Board of Finance kicked off the budget process with 
the Public Hearing on March 18th followed by 3 days of Workshops and the first of two scheduled 
Deliberation Meetings on March 27th. No action was taken at this meeting. The second Deliberation 
Meeting is scheduled for April 3rd.    

Brownfields Redevelopment Agency 
The Brownfields Redevelopment Agency met on March 25. The members welcomed a new member to 
the agency. The Town Manager gave a brief update of what is going on in the town. The members 
discussed the progress updates for the EPA and DECD projects and grants. Amy Vaillancourt, a 
representative from VHB, attended the meeting via Zoom to give updates and discuss topics and aspects 
of the projects on the properties. 

Clean Energy Task Force 
The Clean Energy Task Force met on March 5. There was discussion of community solar, sustainability, 
EV chargers, and Shared Clean Energy Facilities (SCEF). There has been discussion about contacting a 
company that installs level 2 EV chargers at Cumberland Farms gas stations about having some installed 
in town. There are three legislations before the general assembly for community solar that the members 
want to investigate further. The members discussed the Clean up the Lake event being held on Earth Day 
happening in town. The members briefly discussed getting a booth at the event to pass out pamphlets and 
flyers.  

Commission on Aging 
The Commission on Aging met on March 14.  Dr. Rosenberg reported on EH Community Cares noting 
there are 24 volunteers and 24 members with 19 deeds being done in February.  They discussed upcoming 
fundraising for EHCC. The River Valley Transit will be implementing the Xtra Mile Program on May 
28 in East Hampton. River Valley Transit will also be planning a fixed bus route so the public doesn’t 
have to flag down buses.  The Health and Wellness group is working on adult enrichment programs with 
the Recreation Department.  

Conservation-Lake Commission 
The Conservation-Lake Commission met on March 14. The members discussed the invasive plants signs 
for watercraft on the lake, the watershed projects, federal funding, and the AIS funding, the commission 
budget, the hydrilla problem in the lake, and the runoff issues from the Edgewater development. The 
members received a brief presentation about in-lake treatment and the Aquaflex material in seven inlets 
and streams from John Tucci. 

Design Review Board 
No meeting 

Economic Development Commission 
No meeting 

Agenda Item 14a



 
Ethics Commission 
No meeting 
 
Fire Commission 
The Fire Commission met on March 11.  There was brief discussion about the dry hydrants, the Walnut 
Avenue water source problem, and the new Firehouse progress. The members also discussed the number 
of water in basement calls and Jim Burke created reports that shows the number of calls and manpower 
hours already used this year. 
 
Inland Wetlands Watercourses Agency 
The Inland Wetlands Watercourses Agency held a special meeting on March 14.   
Continued Applications: 

A. Application IW-24-003: East Hampton, Public Works Dept., Replacement of Wopowog Culvert. 
Map 21/ Block 53/ Lot 7. Vice-Chairman Kavalkovich made a motion to approve application IW-
24-003 using the short form. For the following reasons: The current state of disrepair of the 
crossing presents a clear danger to the watercourse and areas downstream; Construction plan 
mitigates any long-term impacts to the identified species of concern and allows passage for the 
native species; Best management practices are in place for erosion and sedimentation controls; 
and natural wetland plantings are part of the plan. Chairman Wilson seconded the motion. Vote: 
5-0 in favor 

 
The Regular Meeting was held on March 27. 
Continued Applications: 

A. Application IW-23-022: Ryan Hulburt, 63 Spellman Point Rd., Pave driveway in Upland Review 
Area. Map 09A/ Block 70A/ Lot 35. Application was withdrawn at the request of the applicant. 

 
Joint Facilities 
The Colchester-East Hampton Joint Facilities met on March 19. Karl Boyer of AECOM presented the 
Middletown Avenue Pump Station (MAPS) Planning Phase Design Summary report to the Board. The 
presentation was comprised of the Condition Assessment, Future Flow Evaluation, Development of 
Alternatives and Evaluation and Recommendations. 
 
Library Advisory Board 
The Library Advisory Board met on March 4.  Members discussed the Strategic Planning process and 
the Community Survey.  
 
Middle Haddam Historic District Commission 
The Middle Haddam Historic District Commission met on March 28.  The members reviewed and 
discussed three plan reviews for public hearings. The first application was to install arena lighting for a 
horse arena. The members reviewed the updated site map depicting where the light poles will be and 
which way the lights will be facing. A lighting plan was explained to the members by Attorney Scott 
Jezek representing the applicant. A motion was made to approve the application as described by Attorney 
Jezek during the meeting. The members voted unanimously against the application for the motion. The 
second application was to refurbish an existing shed into a one car garage using the original shed 
footprint. The applicants want to keep with the style and look of the house and neighborhood while 
constructing the garage. The members made a motion to approve the application as described with a few 
conditions and passed unanimously. The last application was to install railings to a small outdoor staircase 
leading from the garage to the house. The railings would be three feet high and made of black aluminum 



alloy that would look like cast iron. The members made a motion to approve the application as submitted 
and passed unanimously.  
 
Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 
The Parks & Recreation Advisory Board met on March 5.  Members received an update from the Air 
Line Trail Sub-Committee with a spring cleanup on May 4 and the National Trails Day event on June 1. 
They received updates on programming, the golf tournament and the hiring of full-time and seasonal 
staff. Members approved MOUs for Glastonbury, Middletown and Wesleyan crew and sailing groups. 
 
Planning & Zoning Commission 
The Planning & Zoning Commission met on March 6.   
Public Hearings: 

A. PZC-23-015: Text Amendment regarding Accessory Uses to Agriculture per Sec. 8.4.C Mr. Hintz 
made a motion to close the public hearing. Mr. Sennett seconded the motion. Vote: 7-0 in favor 
Mr. Hintz made a motion to approve PZC-23-015: Text Amendment regarding Accessory Uses 
to Agriculture per Sec. 8.4.C as presented effective April 1, 2024. Mr. Rux seconded the motion 
Vote: 7-0 in favor. 

B. Ted Hintz Jr. Recused himself as he is applicant for 5B - PZC-24-003 Theodore Hintz Jr., 46 
Keighley Pond Rd., Special Permit for Lighting of Outdoor Athletic facility for existing horse 
ring in R2 Zone. Map 01C/ Block 10/ Lot 11. Mr. Rux made a motion to continue the public 
hearing to the regular scheduled meeting of April 3, 2024. Mr. Sennett seconded the motion. Vote: 
6-0 in favor. Mr. Rux made a motion to continue the application to the regular scheduled meeting 
of April 3, 2024. Mr. Sennett seconded the motion. Vote: 6-0 in favor. 

Old Business 
A. PZC-23-016: David & Melissa Baribault, 33 High Point, Gravel Path, Shed and Stairs in 

Conservation Easement. Map 02C/Block 9/Lot 12/8. Mr. Kowalczyk made a motion to continue 
PZC-23-016 to the next regularly scheduled meeting of April 3, 2024. Mr. Sennett seconded the 
motion. Vote: 7-0 in favor. 

B. PZC-24-002: West High Enterprises, 195 West High Street, Site Plan Review for Construction 
of a Commercial Building in C Zone. Map 12/ Block 36/ Lot 3 Mr. Rux made a motion to continue 
application to the regular scheduled meeting of April 3, 2024. Mr. Sennett seconded the motion. 
Vote: 6-0 in favor. 

 
Water Pollution Control Authority  
The East Hampton WPCA met on March 5. The Board unanimously approved the 2024/2025 WPCA 
Expense Budget. The budget reflects a proposed increase in expenses of $91,100.57 or 4.41% over last 
year. Approval of Sewer Rates to be determined at a public hearing in September. 
 
Zoning Board of Appeals 
No meeting 


	Mowing 2024 Bid Results Summary.pdf
	Sheet1

	SCT_Intro_East Hampton.pdf
	Slide 1
	Slide 2
	Slide 3
	Slide 4
	Slide 5
	Slide 6
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9
	Slide 10
	Slide 11
	Slide 12
	Slide 13
	Slide 14
	Slide 15
	Slide 16
	Slide 17
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20
	Slide 21
	Slide 22

	Fees 7.1.24.pdf
	Proposed Fees 7-1-2024




